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Def endant Thomas Mat hew (a/k/a “Thomaskutty Mathew') is
charged in the Indictnent, dated Novenber 6, 2008, with the

fol | ow ng:

- Six (6) counts of wire fraud, in violation of 18
U S.C 88 1343 and 2;?

- One (1) count of theft concerning prograns

! Counts 1-6 of wire fraud and aiding and abetting, in

violation of 18 U . S.C. 88 1343 and 2, are as foll ows:

COUNT DATE (on or DESCRI PTI ON
about )
1 Novenber 12, Wring of $89,823 fromED, in
2003 Ri chnond, Virginia, to Wachovi a Bank

Account No. (ending in) 8215, in
Phi | adel phi a, Pennsyl vani a.

2 Decenber 12, Wring of $94,524 fromED, in

2003 Ri chnond, Virginia, to Ctizens Bank
Account No. (ending in) 0093, in

Phi | adel phi a, Pennsyl vani a.

3 January 29, Wring of $85,135 fromED, in

2004 Ri chnond, Virginia, to Ctizens Bank
Account No. (ending in) 0093, in

Phi | adel phi a, Pennsyl vani a.

4 March 15, 2004 |[Wring of $84,418 fromED, in

Ri chnond, Virginia, to Ctizens Bank
Account No. (ending in) 0093, in

Phi | adel phi a, Pennsyl vani a.

5 July 13, 2004 |Wring of $34,564 fromED, in

Ri chnond, Virginia, to Ctizens Bank
Account No. (ending in) 0093, in

Phi | adel phi a, Pennsyl vani a.

6 July 30, 2003 |Wring of $4,520 fromED, in

Ri chnond, Virginia, to Ctizens Bank
Account No. (ending in) 0093, in

Phi | adel phi a, Pennsyl vani a.

See | ndi ct nent 6.



receiving federal funds, in violation of 18 U. S. C
88 666(a)(1l) (A and (b);?

- Six (6) counts of false statenents, in violation
of 18 U.S.C. § 1001;3

- Seven (7) counts of mail fraud, in violation of 18

2 Count 7, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 666(a)(1)(A) and
(b), charges Defendant, as agent and owner of a school receiving
federal funds, of obtaining approximtely $1, 196,831 in federal
| oans and grants due to a fraudul ent schene. See Indictnent 7.

s Counts 8-13, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1001, are as
foll ows:

COUNT DATE (on or DESCRI PTI ON
about)

8 November 7, Date of false Chief Executive
2003 Oficer Certification subn ssion

9 Decenmber 18, Date of false Chief Executive
2003 Oficer Certification subn ssion

10 February 2, Dat e of false Chief Executive
2004 Oficer Certification submn ssion

11 March 26, 2004 |[Date of false Chief Executive
Oficer Certification subn ssion

12 July 27, 2004 |Date of false Chief Executive
Oficer Certification subn ssion

13 August 5, 2004 |Date of false Chief Executive
Oficer Certification subn ssion

See | ndi ctnment 8-9.



pri nci pal

Center for Techni cal

US C 8§ 1341;“ and

- Ai di ng and abetting,

2.

In the I ndictnent,

Def endant

Arts and Sci ences (“ACTAS"),

in violation of 18 U S. C. §

is identified as the

owner and Chi ef Executive Oficer of the Anerican

a vocati onal

t echni cal school that trained adult students in the business,
4 Counts 14-20, of nmmil fraud, in violation of 18 U S.C.
8§ 1341, are as foll ows:
COUNT DATE Check Ant . DESCRI PTI ON
No.
14 July 7, 07819937 | $331 | Unenpl oynment Conpensati on Check
2004 fromPa. DOL to Ms. Nanette
Sasak, at her hone address.
15 July 21, 08104742 | $662 | Unenpl oynent Conpensati on Check
2004 fromPa. DOL to Ms. Nanette
Sasak, at her hone address.
16 August 3, | 00245055 | $662 | Unenpl oynent Conpensation Check
2004 fromPa. DOL to Ms. Nanette
Sasak, at her hone address.
17 August 00536063 | $662 | Unenpl oynent Conpensati on Check
18, 2004 fromPa. DOL to Ms. Nanette
Sasak, at her hone address.
18 Sept enber | 00801884 | $662 [ Unenpl oynent Conpensati on Check
1, 2004 fromPa. DOL to Ms. Nanette
Sasak, at her hone address.
19 Sept enber | 01022424 | $662 | Unenpl oynent Conpensati on Check
14, 2004 fromPa. DOL to Ms. Nanette
Sasak, at her hone address.
20 Sept enber | 01276864 | $331 [ Unenpl oynent Conpensati on Check
30, 2004 fromPa. DOL to Ms. Nanette
Sasak, at her hone address.

e I ndictnent 13.




medi cal , and conputer fields. ACTAS was also a private for-
profit organization, which obtained most of its funding from the
U.S. Department of Education, in the forms of loans and grants.

For Counts 1-13, the Indictnent charges that from June
6, 2003 through August 5, 2004, Defendant “devised and intended
to devise a schenme to defraud” the U S. Departnment of Education
(hereinafter “ED’) of approximately $1.2 million of federal
financial aid “by nmeans of false and fraudul ent pretenses,
representations, and prom ses”. Therein, Defendant is alleged to
have falsely documented student attendance at ACTAS and failed to
refund monies due to the Government for students that had
unenrolled. See Indictnent | 12.

For Counts 14-20, the Indictnment charges that from June
2004 t hrough March 2007, Defendant “devised and intended to
devise a schene to defraud” the Pennsyl vani a Departnent of Labor
and Industry (hereinafter “DOL”) of approximtely $3,972 of
unenpl oynment conpensati on and “know ngly caused” fal se answers to
be mail ed by “aiding and abetting [the fraud s] execution.” See
| ndi ctmrent 9§ 13-14.

Fol |l owi ng Defendant’s crimnal bench trial,® the Court

will nowissue the findings of fact and concl usi ons of | aw upon

5 The trial took place from Novenber 9, 2009 to Novenber
19, 2009. After trial, the parties submtted proposed findings
of fact and conclusions of |aw, and were afforded the opportunity
to make cl osing argunents.

-5-



which to predicate Defendant’s crimnal sentence. This case may
be anal ytically bifurcated into: (A the “Title IV Federal Funds
Case,” which enconpasses Counts 1-13 (wire fraud, theft, false

statenents); and (B) the “Unenpl oynent Conpensation Case,” which

enconpasses Counts 14-20 (rmail fraud, aiding and abetting).

LEGAL STANDARD

Foll owi ng a bench trial in a crimnal case, pursuant to
Fed. R Crim P. 23(c), “the court nust find the defendant guilty
or not guilty. |If a party requests before the [decision], the
court nust state its specific findings of fact in open court or
inawitten decision or opinion.” Fed. R Cim P. 23(c).

The Third Crcuit has held that a trial court cannot
avoi d maki ng findings of fact conditioned on the defendant’s
wai ver of such findings after requesting a non-jury trial. See

United States v. Livingston, 459 F.2d 797, 789 (3d Cr. 1972) (en

banc); but see United States v. Brown, 716 F.2d 457, 462 (7th

Cr. 1983) (although findings of fact are not required, under
Rul e 23(c) when not requested by defendant, an appellate court
may nonet heless require the trial court to make such findings on
remand) .

As for legal conclusions, the Third Crcuit in
Li vingston noted that “[d]etailed | egal conclusions are .

appropriate in non-jury crimnal proceedings, particularly when

- 6-



the facts of a case suggest several |egal principles which the
trial judge m ght have invoked.” 459 F.2d at 798. However, Rule

23(c) itself does not expressly require conclusions of |aw

1. EINDINGS OF FACT

After consideration of the testinony and exhibits
offered at trial, the Governnment’s proposed findings of facts
(doc. no. 90 at 2-22), and the Defendant’s proposed findings of
facts (doc. no. 91 at 3-11), and closing argunents by counsel,
the Court finds as foll ows:

A “TI' TLE IV FEDERAL FUNDS CASE’ - COUNTS 1-13

a. Title |1V Federal Funds Program

1. Under Title IV of the H gher Education Act of
1965, Pub. L. No. 89-329, 79 Stat. 1219, Congress established a
nunber of different student | oan and grant prograns, including
the Federal Pell Gant Program ("Pell") and the Federal Famly
Education Loan Program ("FFELP"). Trial Tr. 67-68, dated 11-9-
09.°

2. Many different types of schools receive Title IV
fundi ng, including universities, private schools, beauty schools,
and trade schools. ED pays this aid on behalf of students to
assi st them when attending school. Trial Tr. 66, dated 11-9-009.

3. ED provides the funding in the formof |oans and

6 This was the status of the programat all relevant
tinmes.

-7-



grants, commonly referred to as Pell grants. Trial Tr. 67, dated
11- 9-09.

4, Under FFELP, funds originate fromprivate
| enders and are sent to the schools. These | oans are guaranteed
by the federal governnent and cone directly fromthe governnent.
Trial Tr. 68, 83, dated 11-9-09.

5. ED pays Pell grants directly to a school’s bank
account on behalf of a student. Trial Tr. 69, dated 11-9-09.

6. To qualify for Title IV funding, ED requires that
a school be licensed by the state in which they are operating;
that the school be accredited by an accrediting body recognized
by the Secretary of Education; and that the school is in
operation for two years before starting the program Trial Tr.
67, dated 11-9-009.

7. To becone eligible to receive Title IV funds under
t hese prograns, a school neeting these requirenents nust al so
enter into a program participation agreenent (“PPA’) with ED
whi ch "shall condition the initial and continuing eligibility of
the school to participate in a program upon conpliance wth"
specific requirenments.” Trial Tr. 96-97, dated 11-9-009.

8. After a school becones eligible to receive Title
|V funds by entering into a PPA, clains for paynent of those
funds can be made in various ways. Under the Pell G ant program
students submt requests for funding to ED, either on their own
or wth the assistance of schools. Under FFELP, students and

schools jointly submt requests for loans to private |enders that

- 8-



are guaranteed by state guaranty agencies, which are, in turn,
insured by ED and paid only in the event of a default. Trial Tr.
69- 70, dated 11-9-09.

9. Students apply directly to ED by conpleting a form
called the Free Application for Federal Student A d (“FASFA”).
The student provides information about his or her own incone and
assets on the application, and then sends the formdirectly to
ED. T rial Tr. 70, dated 11-9-09.

10. The Pennsyl vani a H gher Educati on Assi stance
Agency (“PHEAA”’) is a guarantee agency that functions as a
cl eari nghouse or m ddl eman between the schools and the | enders.
Students apply for a private loan froma | ender, and the | ender
sends the funds to PHEAA, which processes the |oan and delivers
the funds to the school. Trial Tr. 71, dated 11-9-09.

11. In sone cases, the school pays |oan noney directly
to the student to cover the student’s |living expenses. Trial Tr.
72, dated 11-9-009.

12. If the nonies were a grant, the school nust refund
the nonies to the governnent. |If the nonies were a |oan, the
school nust refund the nonies to the student’s outstanding | oan
debt. Trial Tr. 72-73, dated 11-9-09.

13. If the student withdraws before the 60% point in
the period for which the school received funding, then the schoo
is required to issue the refund. Trial Tr. 73, dated 11-9-009.

14. |If a student withdraws after that 60% point, then

the school is not required to issue the refund. Trial Tr. 74,

-9-



dated 11-9-09.

15. For loans, the school will return the noney to the
Student Loan Servicing Center (“SLSC’), a division of PHEAA
PHEAA will then return the noney to the individual |enders.
Trial Tr. 83, dated 11-9-009.

16. Wien a student withdraws froma school, the school
is required to return any refunds due to ED and | enders within 30
days fromthe date school personnel becane aware of the fact
that the student had wthdrawn (i.e., drop date), known as the
“DOD’, date of determ nation, or the “LDA’, |ast date of
attendance. Trial Tr. 84, dated 11-9-09; Trial Tr. 110, dated
11-12-09.

17. ED refunds were cal cul ated as owi ng from LDA
Trial Tr. 112, dated 11-12-09.

b. H story of ACTAS Ownership

18. ACTAS was a proprietary institution (a for-profit
school) from 1986, |icensed by the Conmmonweal th of Pennsyl vani a
and accredited by the Accrediting Council for Continuing
Education and Training (“ACCET”). Indictnent 2; Trial Tr. 69,
dated 11-9-09; Trial Tr. 26, dated 11-12-09.

19. ACTAS had three different canpus |ocations: a
Center Gty Philadel phia |ocation, a suburban Phil adel phi a
| ocation, and the main canpus in Northeast Philadel phia. Trial
Tr. 27, dated 11-12-09.

20. ACTAS offered nmultiple educational prograns for

its students, including a paral egal program a nedical assistance

-10-



and EKG program and a surgical technology program Prospective
students were required to have a high school diploma or a GED in
order to enroll at ACTAS. Trial Tr. 27, dated 11-12-09.

21. In 2001, the City of Philadel phia' s Departnment of
Li censes and I nspections notified then-owner Robert Bubb ("Bubb")
that ACTAS had to imedi ately vacate the building at 1930
Chestnut Street, where ACTAS s Center City canpus was | ocated.
Trial Tr. 29, dated 11-12-009.

22. Bubb infornmed a supervisor at the State Education
Department that ACTAS had to imedi ately vacate the prem ses of
ACTAS s center city canmpus, and inquired if there was any
bui | di ng space avail able for the ACTAS Center City canpus. The
supervi sor referred Bubb to Defendant Thomas Mat hew (" Mat hew').
Trial Tr. 27, dated 11-12-09.

23. In April 2001, Bubb nmet with Mathew at the site of
Mat hew s conputer school, the Neumann Institute of Technol ogy at
1515 Market Street, Phil adel phia (“Neumann”). W©Mathew of fered
conput er educational prograns at Neumann, a |licensed but not
accredited school, that did not use Title IV funding. Trial Tr.
32, dated 11-12-009.

24. Mathew had no prior experience with Title IV
fundi ng, policies and/or practices prior to purchasing ACTAS.
Trial Tr. 125-26, dated 11-10-09; Trial Tr. 156, dated 11-17-09.

25. In April 2001, Bubb and Mathew signed an agreenent
permtting ACTAS to | ease space from Mat hew at the 1515 Market

Street location to enable ACTAS to relocate their Center City

-11-



canmpus there. Trial Tr. 31-32, 37, dated 11-12-09.

26. After ACTAS noved into the 1515 Market Street
| ocati on, Bubb and Mat hew began di scussi ons about creating a
partnership and a possible sale of ACTAS to Mathew. Trial Tr.
35-36, dated 11-12-09.

27. In Cctober 2001, Bubb entered into an agreenent of
sale with Mathew to sell ACTAS to the Neumann |nstitute of
Technol ogy, a corporation owed by Mathew. Trial Tr. 26, 38,
dated 11-12-09.

28. On May 1, 2002, Bubb and Mat hew cl osed on the sale
of ACTAS to Neumann and Mat hew, with Bubb staying on, under an
enpl oynent agreenent, to assist in running the school. Trial Tr.
26, 46, dated 11-12-09.

29. At the closing, no noney changed hands. Bubb sold
Mat hew t he ACTAS stock and, in turn, Mthew assuned a nunber of
ACTAS liabilities and debts that were outstanding. 1d.

30. The sale agreenent required Bubb to Iist al
outstanding liabilities. However, outstanding liabilities owed
to ED for Pell Gants were not listed by Bubb in the schedul e of
liabilities attached to the agreenent. Trial Tr. 162-164, dated
11-17-09; Trial Tr. 103, dated 11-12-09.

31. Wthin the listing of liabilities, there was
a breakdown of refunds owed to the SLSC, part of PHEAA, and PHEAA
itself. In June 2002, the Phil adel phia Comrerci al Managenent
Cor por ati on paid approxi mately $49,000 for satisfaction of the

liabilities listed in the sale agreenment to SLSC. Trial Tr. 56-
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57, dated 11-12-009.

32. On May 1, 2002, the closing date, the agreenent of
sal e (as between Bubb and Newmann, owned by Mat hew) provided that
Bubb woul d stay on as Mathew s enpl oyee to hel p run ACTAS, during
whi ch Bubb woul d serve as the school’s director. Trial Tr. 47,
48, dated 11-12-09.

33. Bubb was charged with running ACTAS daily
operations, including but not limted to: student enroll nent,
hiring enpl oyees, setting work schedules, the eligibility
certification and approval report, and financial matters. Trial
Tr. 120-37, dated 11-12-09.

34. From June 11, 2002 through April 22, 2004 (date of
Bubb’ s end of enpl oynent at ACTAS), Bubb continued to assist with
student financial matters (i.e., enrollnment contracts, PHEAA
audi t, student probation, student drop decision, determ nation of
student term nation, student’s paynent of nedical bills, signing
checks). Trial Tr. 141-44, dated 11-12-2009; Trial Tr. 229,
dated 11-10-09.

35. After the closing date, Mathew was |egally charged
with ACTAS finances. Trial Tr. 54, 150, dated 11-12-09; Tri al
Tr. 144, dated 11-13-09. Along with Bubb, doria Stanley stayed
on and was one of the adm nistrative staff responsible for
calculating student’s withdrawals (“drop dates”) as cal cul ated
fromthe |ast date of attendance (“LDA’). Trial Tr. 109, dated
11-12-09.

36. In Septenber 2002, Mat hew signed a program

-13-



participation agreenent (PPA) wwth ED. A PPAis a contract

bet ween a school and ED, typically signed by the school’ s CEQ
Presi dent, or owner, and an ED representative. The PPA details
all of the school’s obligations and the requirenents it nust
satisfy in admnistering Title IV prograns, including the
responsibility to return student refunds. Trial Tr. 95-99, dated
11- 09- 09.

C. ACTAS' Program Revi ew

37. In January 2002, as a result of unsubmtted
docunentation due to the change in ownership at ACTAS, ED sent
two institutional review specialists to retrieve docunents and do
an initial onsite assessnent of the ownership change. Trial Tr.
75, dated 11-9-009.

38. After that visit, a programreview was recomended
because ACTAS docunentation was in disarray and the requested
docunents could not be found. Trial Tr. 75, 90, dated 11-09-09.

39. Once a school is eligible and receiving Title IV
federal funding, in order to ensure conpliance with the rules
acconpanying federal funds, ED nmay initiate a programreview. In
a programreview, ED specialists visit a school for the purpose
of assessing the school’s admnistration of Title IV funding. In
doing so, the specialists interview staff, and review the
school s student and fiscal records during the assessnent. Trial
Tr. 76, dated 11-09-09.

40. During a programreview, ED specialists typically

request a list of all students who are attending during a

-14-



particular tinme frame, and then rely on statistical sanpling
software which will select, at random a sanple of 15 files from
each year to determ ne whether | ast date of attendances (i.e.,
drop dates) and refunds are being properly cal cul at ed.

General ly, the specialists |ook at two years, which involves
reviewing 30 randomy selected files. Trial Tr. 93-94, dated 11-
09- 09.

41. Student files typically contain a student
enrol I ment contract, a student account card, which consists of a
lists tuition charges, and accunul ated credits toward tuition in
the formof either Pell grants or student loans. Trial Tr. 93,
dated 11-09-09.

42. In April 2003, ED specialists Nancy Dell aVecchi a
and D ane Mangan began ACTAS programreview. In the initial
nmeeting, Dellavecchia and Mangan first net wth Mathew, Bubb and
Goria Stanley, ACTAS financial director. At that tinme, an
overvi ew of the programrevi ew process was stated. Trial Tr. 90-
92, dated 11-09-09.

43. During the early stages of the programreview, the
ED speci alists encountered a nunber of problenms wth requested
student records. ACTAS personnel could not |ocate nmultiple
student files or bank statenents. Trial Tr. 92-93, dated 11-09-
09.

44, At this time, ACTAS was receiving Title IV funding
t hrough the advance pay system Under this system the school

| ogs onto an ED website and reports the anmount of the funds that

-15-



it is requesting on behalf of the eligible students. Wthin a
few days, the governnent and | enders wire the noney to the
school. Trial Tr. 102-03, dated 11-09-09.

45. \When a school, however, does not properly conply
with the rules acconpanying recei pt of federal funds under the
Title IV program it may be subject to stricter paynent plans
such as reinbursenent. Trial Tr. 107-10, dated 11-10-09.

46. The rei nbursenment nethod of paynent is authorized
by federal regulation, 34 CFR 8 668.162(d), which describes the
requi renents and procedure. Section 668.162, entitled
"Requesti ng Funds", does not include any nention of a chief
executive officer certification statenents ("CEOCS"). Trial Tr.
107-10, dated 11-10-09.

47. Section 668.162(d) does not nention that an
institution nust satisfy ED s requirenments that all refunds due,
prior to the request date, were paid in order to receive the
requested funds. Trial Tr. 110, dated 11-10-009.

48. Under the reinbursenent system of paynent, a
school is required by ED to submt a request to ED that consists
of three parts: (1) a conpleted formindicating there are
students eligible for certain anmounts of funding, the PMs-270;
(2) student records that would support the requested funding; and
(3) CEQCCSs, signed by the owner or president of the school.

Trial Tr. 103-04, dated 11-09-09.
49. A CECCS is a docunent that the CEQ, president, or

-16-



owner of a school is required to sign in conjunction with every
rei mbursenment request made to ED. A CEOCCS is a "in-house" form
devel oped by ED;, not a docunent created or reviewed by the U S

O fice of Managenent and Budget. No instructions are attached to
the CECCS. Trial Tr. 102, 108-12, dated 11-10-09.

50. Neither the 2003-2004 Federal Student A d Handbook
nor the 2003-2004 Student Financial A d Bluebook, both ED
publ i cations providing guidance to Title IV professionals about
fiscal issues such as accounts and record- keepi ng, provide any
information regarding the CEOCCS or its purpose, meani ng or
intent. Trial Tr. 130-32, dated 11-10-09.

51. Paragraph 2 of the CECCS forns states that "[a]l]l
Title IV Return of Title IV Fund paynents, including Federal
Fam |y Education Loan and Direct Loan paynents, have been nade as
required by Federal regulations and all credit bal ances have been
refunded to the appropriate Title IV prograns or students for all
students.” Trial Tr. 128, dated 11-10-09 (enphasis added).

52. The only explanation of the CECCS provided by ED
is on pages 6 and 7 of the instructions for obtaining funds under
t he rei nbursenent system of paynent which states in rel evant
part:

To initiate paynment, the institution . . . nust submt
the followng: . . . Astatenent by the Chief Executive
O ficer (Appendix I-3) certifying to the accuracy of the
data subm tted on the student |list and the form PVM5- 270

[a formused to request funds]

See Trial Tr. 108-111, dated 11-10-09.
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53. No additional explanations, provided by ED or
el sewhere, existed to indicate that the 1 2 of the CEOCS extended
beyond the student clains listed in the attached PM5-270 form and
t he Rei mbursenment Roster of Students. Trial Tr. 108-111, dated
11- 10- 09.

54. A delay between a school’ s rei nbursenent request
and actual disbursenent of the funds by ED lasts at least thirty
days and with no definite end date. Trial Tr. 105, dated 11-09-
09.

55. ED had a policy to reject reinbursenent requests
if the submtted fornms (the PMF 270, the Rei nbursenent Roster of
Students, and the CEOCCS) were inconplete or inaccurate. Trial
Tr. 41-43, 111-12 dated 11-10-09; Trial Tr. 220, 13-19, dated 11-
10- 09.

56. During the relevant tinme period, Mathew had been
comruni cating with ED, either directly or through ACTAS
attorney, M. Jonathan d ass, with the Dow Lohnes law firmin
Washington D.C. Trial Tr. 109, 11-19-009.

57. The programrevi ew of ACTAS covered the period
fromJuly 1, 2000 to June 30, 2003. Trial Tr. 192, 11-10-009.

58. On May 8, 2003, ED notified ACTAS by letter that
it was placing ACTAS on the reinbursenent nethod of Title IV
funding. Trial Tr. 110, dated 11-09-09. This decision was based
on: (1) ACTAS s failure to provide requested records while ED
specialists were on-site at ACTAS;, and (2) an action taken by

ACTAS accrediting body, who had previously issued a show cause
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letter to ACTAS indicating that they were considering the renova
of the school’s accreditation, which would have ended their Title
IV eligibility. Trial Tr. 101-02, dated 11-09-009.

59. From June 6, 2003 until August 5, 2004, WMathew
signed twelve (12) CECCS requests along with the twelve (12)
rei mbursenment requests he submtted to ED for Title IV funding on
behal f of students attending ACTAS. Trial Tr. 113-20, dated 11-
09-09.’

60. The twelve (12) CECCS docunents signed by Mathew
were reviewed by an ED rei nbursenent analyst, M. Robert Celfand,
whose job included approving rei nbursenent requests. Trial Tr.
157, dated 11-10-009.

61. FromJune 5, 2003 until on or about July 30, 2004,
ED authori zed the rel ease of $1,211,322 in Pell Gants and
federally backed | oans to ACTAS. Trial Tr. 32-39, dated 11-10-
09.

d. Events Following ED s Program Revi ew Report

62. Follow ng the programreview, ED conpleted a

cl oseout audit of ACTAS covering the period fromJanuary 1, 2003

! The CEOCS subm ssions, conprising Counts 8-13 of the
I ndictnent, are dated as foll ows:

- Novenber 7, 2003 (11-7-03)
- Decenber 18, 2003 (12-18-03)
- February 2, 2004 (2-2-04)

- March 26, 2004 (3-26-04)
- July 27, 2004 (7-27-04)
- August 5, 2004 (8-5-04)

See | ndi ctnment 8-9.
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to Septenber 30, 2004. That period conpletely covered the
rei mbursenent period. Trial Tr. 195, dated 11-10-09.

63. On Septenber 16, 2003, as part of ED s program
review of ACTAS admnistration of Title IV funding, ED issued a
prelimnary report known as a programreview report (“PRR’). ED
then sent ACTAS the PRR, concerning the status of its Title IV
fundi ng and ACTAS continued eligibility. Trial Tr. 121, dated
11- 09- 09.

64. The PRR contai ned several findings of
nonconpl i ance of federal regulations on ACTAS part, including
the late and i naccurate return of Title IV refunds for the school
years 2000-01, 2001-02, and 2003. Trial Tr. 123, 125, dated 11-
09- 09.

65. The PRR formally charged ACTAS with the regul atory
violation of failing to make refund paynents. Trial Tr. 95,
dated 11-10-09.

66. The PRR requested that ACTAS performa file
review requiring that the school reviewits files and determ ne
(1) which students withdrew and the dates on which they w thdrew,
(2) amounts of refunds that were owed, if any; (3) dates refunds
were paid; and (4) front and back sides of the refund checks to
confirmthat refunds were actually paid. Finally, ACTAS was
required to have the infornmation attested to by a certified
public accountant. Trial Tr. 130, dated 11-09-009.

67. The PRR also stated that, due to failure to nmake

refund paynents, determnation of liability for unnmade refunds
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woul d take place in the Final Program Revi ew Determ nation
(“FPRD’) and “instructions for the repaynent of any liability
will be issued in the Final Program Review Determ nation” letter.
Trial Tr. 99, dated 11-10-09.

68. Mathew hired an outside accountant, M. Hartnman,
who prepared a spreadsheet reflecting outstandi ng bal ances for
students who received funds, but |ater dropped out for purposes
of calculating Title IV refunds that were owed to ED. Trial Tr.
58-60, dated 11-13-09; Trial Tr. 108, 118-35, dated 11-19-09.

69. On or about January 15, 2004, M. d ass, on behalf
of Mat hew and ACTAS, responded to the PRR by submtting a set of
docunents to ED under a cover letter signed by Mathew that
i ncl uded spreadsheets, entitled “drop reports”, to show that
ACTAS had been in conpliance with ED regul ati ons regardi ng the
return of Title IV refunds. Trial Tr. 129-33, dated 11-09-09.

70. The drop reports contai ned columms for check
nunbers and the correspondi ng anounts paid by check for
i ndi vi dual students out of the ACTAS operating account. Trial
Tr. 129-33, dated 11-09-009.

71. WMathew listed check nunbers 1176, 1177, 1182,
1183, 1184, 1185, and 1187 on the Drop Report to indicate
wi t hdrawn students for whomrefunds where owed. Refunds for
those students (i.e., the checks for those students) were not
i mredi ately negotiated and, instead, were paid at |ater dates.
Trial Tr. 129-33, dated 11-09-09; Trial Tr. 108, 118, dated 11-
19- 09.
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e. PHEAA Checks

72. In April 2004, ED reinbursenent analyst, M.
Gel f and, observed that ACTAS had not reported any dropped
students since being placed on rei nbursenent in May 2003. Since
it was unusual for schools to report no dropped students over the
course of a year, M. GCelfand suspended approval of additional
Title IV di sbursenents until he could resolve the issue. Trial
Tr. 165, dated 11-10-09.

73. On April 16, 2004, Kathy Penrose, a nenber of the
financial staff at ACTAS, called M. Gelfand to say that a
m st ake was being nade in regards to the calculation of a
student’s drop date and Ms. G oria Stanley was using the date of
determ nation as the | ast date of attendance, as opposed to the
| ast day the student actually attended ACTAS. Trial Tr. 210-11,
dated 11-10-09.

74. During a tel ephone conversation wth ACTAS
personnel, M. Gelfand requested information for any students who
had been dropped since May 2003. In a letter dated April 19,
2004, M. Celfand reiterated the request and added that ED needed
to send proof of paynent in the formof copies of the front and
back sides of the checks sent to pay for refunds. Trial Tr. 165-
169, dated 11-10-09.

75. On May 5, 2004, M. dass, on behalf of ACTAS
responded to M. Celfand’ s request by sending the front-sided
copies of 17 checks to both ED and students and 2 checks to PHEAA

(despite ED instructions to send the copies of both sides of the
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returned and endorsed checks as proof of paynent). Mathew was
not copi ed on the correspondence and had no know edge of the
correspondence. Trial Tr. 169-70, 186, dated 11-10-09; Govt EXxs.
22-23.

76. According to M. G@ass’'s letter, the front-copied
checks represented paynents for Title IV student refunds. Two of
t he checks nunbered 1375 ($ 6,667) and 1376 (witten for $11, 993)
that were drawn agai nst an ACTAS bank account were dated Apri
30, 2004 and were nmade payable to PHEAA. The two checks to PHEAA
total ed $18,660.21 in the aggregate. Trial Tr. 170-72, 175-76,
dated 11-10-09.

77. On May 10, 2004, M. Celfand spoke with Mat hew and
stated that there were problens with the checks as no backs had
been copied and sent to ED. Trial Tr. 9, dated 11-19-009.

78. On June 14, 2004, doria Staley, the financial aid
officer, called ED to report that m stakes had been nade in the
rei mbursenment refund cal cul ati ons as the school had been charging
an extra $100 admi nistrative fee. Trial Tr. 187, dated 11-10-09;
Trial Tr. 8, dated 11-19-09.

79. On June 17, 2004, M. Celfand again called ACTAS,
advi si ng that disbursenent of funds was still being held up
because ACTAS had failed to send both sides of the refund checks,
as requested. Trial Tr. 178-79, dated 11-10-09. WMathew had
never negoti ated the checks, nunbered 1375 and 1376, to PHEAA.
Trial Tr. 103, dated 11-19-09.

80. Later that day, PHEAA received a wire funds
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transfer into its bank account for the exact same anount of noney
reflected on the two checks, 1375 and 1376. Trial Tr. 17, 180
dated 11-10-09. As such, ED approved and paid the rei nbursenent
request in July 2004. Trial Tr. 184, dated 11-10-09.

81. The Pell grant funds cited in Counts One through
Six of the Indictnment were paid fromthe U S. Treasury account in
Ri chnond, Virginia, and wired to the ACTAS operating account in
Pennsyl vania. Trial Tr. 41, dated 11-10-009.

82. Approximately $320,000 was paid out of ACTAS
operating accounts to persons with the nanme of “Thomas” from June
2003 t hrough August 2004. Trial Tr. 98, dated 11-16-009.

83. Checks fromthe ACTAS operating accounts nade
payable to Elizabeth Thonmas, Mathew s wife, were nade out as
cashier’s check noney orders and to vendors. Trial Tr. 8-9,
dated 11-17-09.

f. Def endant’ s Know edge That Refunds Were Oned

84. Harshad Patel was hired in May, 2003 to work as
ACTAS bookkeeper and worked at ACTSA for approximtely two
yeras. Trial Tr. 223:23-24, dated 11-10-09. Patel had received
prior training during a week in Seattle, Washington on Title IV
federal funding. Trial Tr. 227:1-6, dated 11-10-009.

85. During his tinme at ACTAS, Patel advised Thomas
Mat hew and ot her enpl oyees about their responsibilities
concerning Title IV funding, including the need to return
refunds. Trial Tr. 227-29, dated 11-10-09.

86. Between June 2003 and August 2004, Patel had
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experi enced probl ens bal anci ng the accounting books at ACTAS.
One contributing factor was that checks that he had presented to
Mat hew for his signature were not being returned with the bank’s
mont hly statenents. Sone of these checks had been drafted for
Title 'V refunds. Trial Tr. 231, dated 11-10-09.

87. Goria Stanley worked in Financial A d at ACTAS
from 2001 until 2005. Trial Tr. 136, dated 11-13-09.

B. “ UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATI ON CASE” - COUNTS 14- 20

88. Nanette Sasak, identified as Person #1 in Counts
14 through 20 of the Indictnent, began working at ACTAS at its
Center Gty location in February 2003. Trial Tr. 129-33, dated
11- 09- 09.

89. In Septenber 2003, Nanette Sasak transferred to
t he Northeast Phil adel phia |ocation at 2735 Wl sh Road, Northeast
Phi | adel phia. There, Sasak worked on student adm ssions and
defaul ted | oan accounts. Her duties included interview ng
prospective students and sending letters to students who had
defaulted on their student |loans. Trial Tr. 47, dated 11-13-09.

90. In March 2004, due to chronic financial
probl ens at the school, Mathew |aid off Nanette Sasak. She
i mredi ately applied for unenpl oynent conpensation benefits, which
she started to receive that sanme nonth (March 2004) fromthe
Commonweal t h of Pennsylvania. Trial Tr. 48-49, dated 11-13-009.

91. As a condition of receiving unenpl oynent
conpensati on benefits, Nanette Sasak was required to report
bi weekly, either by tel ephone or by Internet, whether she had
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been available to work during the tinme franme and whet her she had,
in fact, worked for the week during which she was receiving
unenpl oynent benefits. [d.

92. During the entire time that Sasak received
unenpl oynent conpensati on, she answered the above questions in
the negative. Trial Tr. 158, dated 11-12-09; Trial Tr. 50, dated
11-13-09.

93. In June 2004, Mathew called Sasak asked her to
return to work for a project, relating to the identification of
students who had been inproperly charged a $100 adni ni strative
fee, and returning the fee to those students. Trial Tr. 71-72,
dated 11-13-09; Trial Tr. 5-8, dated 11-19-09. Mat hew knew t hat
Sasak was receiving unenpl oynent conpensation and agreed to pay
$15/hour in cash. Trial Tr. 51-52, dated 11-13-09.

94. During the tine period Nanette Sasak worked on the
proj ect for Mathew, she received seven unenpl oynent conpensati on
checks in the aggregate totaling $3,972. Trial Tr. 53, 185-59,
167-69, dated 11-12-09.

95. If Nanette Sasak had reported the cash wages she
was paid while working at ACTAS when recei vi ng unenpl oynent
conpensati on benefits to the Coomonweal th of Pennsylvania as she
was required to, the Bureau of Unenpl oynent Conpensation woul d
have reduced the anmount of her unenpl oynent benefits dollar for
dollar, or termnated them Trial Tr. 164-65, 178-180, dated 11-
12-09.
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I11. APPLI CABLE LAW

A W RE AND MAI L FRAUDS

The applicable laws follow, in relevant part. 1In
Counts 1-6, Defendant is charged with wire fraud, in violation of
18 U.S.C. 8§ 1343, and aiding and abetting, in violation of 18
US C 8§ 2, for conducting an allegedly fraudul ent schenme he
executed by inproperly reporting student disenrollnment dates to
ED and, as such, retaining approximtely $1.2 M of federal funds
t hat shoul d have been refunded at the tinme of the student’s “drop
date.” See Indictnment | 13.

In Counts 14-20, in connection with the Unenpl oynent
Conpensati on Case, Defendant is charged with mail fraud, in
violation of 18 U S.C. § 1341, and aiding and abetting, in
violation of 18 U S.C. §8 2, for conducting a fraudul ent schene to
al | eged pay fornmer enployees “under the table” while they were
si mul t aneousl y receiving unenpl oynent conpensation fromthe
Pennsyl vani a DCL.

Here, federal wire and nmail fraud are treated simlarly

for statutory purposes.® Under 88 1341 and 1343,

8 “The mail fraud and wire fraud statutes are ‘in par
materia and are, therefore, to be given simlar construction.’”
United States v. Mtan, 2009 U S. Dist. LEXIS 49643, at *20 n.1
(E.D. Pa. 2009) (quoting United States v. Tarnopol, 561 F.2d 466,
475 (3d Cr. 1977)).

Title 18 U.S.C. 1341 and 1343 provide in relevant part:
Whoever, havi ng devi sed or intending to devi se any schene
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[t]he federal mail and wre fraud statutes crimnalize
the use of the mails or wires to execute a ‘scheme or
artifice to defraud.” To prove mail and wre fraud, the
evidence proffered by the Governnent nust establish,
beyond a reasonable doubt, that (1) the defendant's
knowi ng and wi | | ful participationin a schene or artifice
to defraud, (2) with the specific intent to defraud, and
(3) the wuse of the mils or interstate wre
communi cations in furtherance of the schene.

United States v. M CGeehan, 584 F.3d 560, 565 (3d Gr. Pa. 2009)

(citing United States v. Antico, 275 F.3d 245, 261 (3d Cr

2001)).° "Additionally, the object of the alleged schene or
artifice to defraud nust be a traditionally recogni zed property

right." United States v. Al Hedaithy, 392 F.3d 580 (3d G r

2004) (citing United States v. Henry, 29 F.3d 112, 115 (3d Cr

1994)).

Specifically, “to establish predicate offenses under
1341 or 1343, it is the scheme that nust be fraudul ent, not
necessarily the particular mail or wire transm ssions that

constitute the offenses.” Kolar v. Preferred Real Estate |nvs.,

or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining noney or
property by neans of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promses . . . [uses the nmails or
Wi res, or causes their use] for the purpose of executing
such schenme or artifice shall be fined under this title
or inprisoned .

18 U . S.C. 88 1341, 1343.

° The Third Circuit further explained, in United States
v. Pearlstein, that the “prosecution nust establish either that
t he def endant devi sed the fraudul ent schene or that the defendant
‘wilfully participated in it with know edge of its fraudul ent
nature.’” 576 F.2d 531, 537 (3d Cr. 1978).
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Inc., 2010 U. S. App. LEXIS 702, at *19 (3d Cr. Jan. 12, 2010)

(internal citations omtted); see also United States v. Klein,

515 F.2d 751, 754 (3d Cr. 1975) (mail fraud statute requires

proof of specific intent to defraud). Sinply put, the Governnent
must prove a “schene of fraud” in order for Defendant to be found
guilty of wire and mail fraud. It cannot be that the mailings or

wi rings alone were false.?

B. Al DI NG AND ABETTI NG
Under 8 1341, the Governnent alleges that Defendant

ai ded and abetted other actors in the schenme of fraud, in
violation of 18 U S.C. 8 2. In relevant part, 18 U S. C. 8§ 2,
entitled “Principals,” states:

(a) Whoever conmmits an of fense against the United States

or aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or procures

its comm ssion, is punishable as a principal.

(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if

directly perfornmed by himor another woul d be an of f ense

agai nst the United States, is punishable as a principal.
18 U.S.C. § 2 (1951).

To establish a violation of § 2, the Governnment “nust

prove that 'the defendant charged with aiding and abetting that

10 See also Camiolo v. State FarmFire & Cas. Co., 334
F.3d 345, 364 (3d Gr. 2003) (“Wile innocent mailings or wire
comuni cati ons may supply the necessary commruni cation el enment for
these crimnal offenses, there nust be 'sonme sort of fraudul ent
m srepresentati ons or om ssions reasonably cal cul ated to deceive
persons of ordinary prudence and conprehension.’”) (internal
citations omtted).
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crime knew of the conm ssion of the substantive offense and acted

with the intent to facilitate it.'"™ United States v. Carbo, 572

F.3d 112, 118 (3d Gr. 2009) (citing United States v. Kenp, 500

F.3d 257, 293) (internal quotations and citations omtted).

There, the Third Crcuit found that the “key phrase for our

purposes is ‘knew of the comm ssion of the substantive offense’
because a defendant who does not know of the state | aw

cannot be said to have known of the conm ssion of the substantive

offense.” I1d.

C. THEFT CONCERNI NG PROGRAMS RECEI VI NG FEDERAL FUNDS
In Count 7, Defendant is charged with theft concerning
prograns that received federal funds, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§
666(a) (1) (A and (b). Section 666(a)(1)(A) states, in relevant
part:

(a) Whoever, if the circunstance described in subsection
(b) of this section exists--

(1) being an agent of an organi zation, or of a State,
local, or Indian tribal governnent, or any agency
t her eof - -

(A) enbezzles, steals, obtains by fraud, or
ot herwi se wi t hout authority know ngly converts to the use
of any person other than the rightful owner or
intentionally m sapplies, property that--

(i) is valued at $ 5,000 or nore, and

(1i) is owned by, or is under the care, custody

(b) The circunstance referred to in subsection (a) of
this section is that the organization, governnent, or
agency receives, in any one year period, benefits in
excess of $ 10,000 under a Federal programinvolving a
grant, contract, subsidy, |oan, guarantee, insurance, or
ot her form of Federal assistance.
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18 U.S.C. 88 666(a)(1)(A) and (b) (1994); see also United States

v. Richards, 9 F. Supp. 2d 455, 458 (D.N. J. 1998) (stating that,

under 18 U. S.C. 8§ 666(a)(1)(A), a conviction for theft froma
federally funded programrequires that a defendant has a
“specific intent to convert noney or property fromthe

program”).

D. FALSE STATEMENTS
In Counts 8-13, Defendant is charged with falsification

of federal docunents by signing CEOCCSs averring no additional
federal funds were to be refunded, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§
1001 (meking a false statenent to a federal agency). |In relevant
part, 8 1001 states:

[ Whoever, in any matter within the jurisdiction of the

executive, legislative, or judicial branch of the

Government of the United States, knowingly and wil | fully—

(1) falsifies, conceals, or covers up by any trick,

schenme, or device a mterial fact; (2) nakes any

materially false, fictitious, or fraudul ent statenent or

representation; or (3) makes or uses any fal se witing or

docunent knowing the sanme to contain any materially

false, fictitious, or fraudulent statenment or entry;

shal | be fined under this title, inprisoned not nore than

5 years .

18 U.S.C. § 1001 (2006).

E. SPECI FI C | NTENT
In order to prove that Defendant violated 18 U. S.C. 88
1341, 1343, 666(a)(1)(A) and (b), 1001, and 2, by conducting a
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fraudul ent schene and obtaining nearly $1.2 million fromthe
federal government in loans and grants and approxi mately $3, 000
fromthe Pennsylvania DOL in unnerited unenpl oynent conpensati on
funds, the Governnent nust neet a specific intent standard of
proof. As such, “a defendant cannot be convicted . . . unless

t he Governnent proves beyond a reasonabl e doubt that he know ngly
and willfully participated in a schene to obtain noney or
property through fraud and specifically intended to do so.”

Hedai t hy, 392 F.3d at 590; Antico, 275 F.3d at 260.%

| V. CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW AND DI SCUSSI O\

A “TI TLE 1V FEDERAL FUNDS CASE’ - COUNTS 1-13
Def endant is charged with: six (6) counts of wre

fraud, in violation of 18 U S.C. § 1343 and aiding and abetting,

1 “IWith respect to nbst specific-intent crines,
including mail fraud in nost circunstances, ignorance of the |aw
is no excuse.” Carbo, 572 F.3d at 116 (citing United States v.
Par adi es, 98 F.3d 1266, 1285 (11th Cr. 1996) ("In mail fraud
cases, the government need only prove that the defendant had the
intent to deceive, and ignorance of the lawis no defense.")).
An exception to this rule exists where intent to violate a | egal
duty is an elenent of a crine. See id.

12 Thi s menorandum sol ely purports to determ ne whet her
t he Governnent established, beyond a reasonabl e doubt,
Def endant’s guilt as to the crim nal charges brought pursuant to
the Indictnent. As such, nothing herein, either individually or
in aggregate, shall be construed to infer that Defendant is not
subject to civil liability under a differing standard of proof.
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inviolation of 18 U.S.C. 8 2; one (1) count of theft concerning
prograns receiving federal funds, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§
666(a)(1)(A); and six (6) counts of false statenents, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1001.

a. Wre Fraud

The Governnent argues that by inputting check nunbers
into Drop Reports submtted to ED, Defendant was attenpting to
show t hat he had paid refunds that were not, in fact, paid and
that by signing CECCSs Defendant was certifying that no
out st andi ng refunds exi sted.

I n opposition, Defendant argues that the Government has
failed to neet its burden as (a) Defendant did not make
intentional msrepresentations or intentionally deceive the
Gover nment because he did not know that a certification as to
prior refunds had a bearing on whether a future reinbursenent
request would be granted; (b) the CEOCCSs are not naterial facts
and, even if deenmed material, the CEOCCSs were not fal se as
Defendant certified the accuracy of the statenents therein, which

were true;®® (c) ED did not rely on Defendant’s representations

13 The Governnent argues that Defendant signed and
submtted CEOCCSs that certified that no outstanding refunds were
owed to ED or PHEAA. In response, Defendant argues that, by
signing the CEOCCSs, he was only certifying to the truth and
accuracy of the required statenents as per the federal
regul ations and ED instructions, not that he had paid every
refund ever owed.

Def endant argues that it was clear refunds were owed,
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in the CEOCCSs since they were aware outstanding refunds were owed
t hroughout the entire relevant tine period; and (d) ED did not
suffer actual harm

To prove wre fraud, the Governnment nust prove three
el emrents beyond a reasonabl e doubt. First, that Defendant
knowi ngly and willfully participated in a schene to deceive ED
and PHEAA into believing that all refunds were paid. See
Pearl stein, 576 F.2d 531, 537 (3d GCr. 1978) (holding that the
prosecution nmust establish either that the defendant devised the

fraudul ent schenme or that the defendant “willfully participated

begi nning in January 2002, when ED specialists visited ACTAS to
oversee the change in ownership between Bubb and Mat hew.

Furt her, Defendant questions the “materiality” of the CECCSs as
| egal m srepresentations where the federal regulations omt the
CECCSS entirely as requirenents. ED uses CEOCSs as in-house
formns.

In Neder v. United States, the Suprenme Court held that
“Iimmaterial m srepresentations or neans” are those “incapabl e of
influencing the intended victim” 527 U S. 1, 24 (1999); see
also United States v. Stewart, 151 F. Supp. 2d 572 (E.D. Pa.
2001) (holding that were a defendant is charged wi th having nade
fraudul ent representations, the word “fraudulent” clearly
enconpasses the notion of materiality).

The CEQCCSs certified that the acconpanying forns (the
PMB- 270 and Student Roster) were accurate. As such, it is clear
that ED could be influenced by the CEOCCSs subm ssions and
therefore, the subm ssions are material representations.
However, the issue here is less broad in scope. The central
i ssue i s whether Defendant believed he was certifying that no
out standi ng refunds existed (i.e., that all outstanding refunds
had been paid by hinm) or that he was certifying as to the
accuracy of the included forms, the PMS-270 and Rei nbur senent
St udent Roster, he actually submtted stapled to each CEQCCS.
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init with know edge of its fraudul ent nature”).! Second, that
Def endant specifically intended to deceive ED and PHEAA into
believing that all refunds were paid. Third, that Defendant used
mail or interstate wire comrunications (i.e., subm ssion of the

CECCSs) in furtherance of that schenme. See McGeehan, 584 F. 3d at

565; United States v. O apps, 732 F.2d 1148, 1152 (3d Cir. 1984).

1. Knowi ng and Wl Il ful Participation in a Schene
t o Defraud

Based on Def endant’s understandi ng of the necessary
paynent regul ati ons governi ng student refunds, confusion by the
rei nbursenent process (i.e., over the representative nature of
checks and cal culation errors in tabulating the anbunt of the
student refunds owed), and Defendant’s conduct during the
rei nbursenent period, the Court finds that the Governnent did not
prove, beyond a reasonabl e doubt, that Defendant know ngly or
willfully participate in a scheme to defraud ED of outstanding
student refunds owed.

i Def endant’ s Under st andi ng of the
Necessary Paynent Requl ations

14 See Hedaithy, 392 F.3d 590 (“a defendant cannot be
convicted . . . unless the Governnent proves beyond a reasonabl e
doubt that he knowingly and willfully participated in a schene to
obtain noney or property through fraud and specifically intended
to do so.”); see also Kehr Packages, Inc. v. Fidelcor, Inc., 926
F.2d 1406, 1415 (finding that in proving fraud, the “schene need
not involve affirmative m srepresentation[s], but [that] the
statutory term'defraud' usually signifies 'the deprivation of
sonmet hing of value by trick, deceit, chicane or overreaching.'")
(quoting McNally v. United States, 483 U.S. 350, 358 (1987)).
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Def endant is accused of providing false information on
the CEQOCS statenents used to support the reinbursenent requests.
The instructions provided to ACTAS in reference to rei nbursenent
requests specifically state that the "information submtted to
recei ve funds" nmust be "accurate." The following is a list of
the requisite accurate information to be provided to ED, in
conjunction with the CECCS: (1) that the institution properly
cal cul at ed student awards; and (2) that the institution’s
students were eligible to receive their awards, based on factors,
including, but not limted to, whether the students: (a) were
enrolled and attending an eligible programat an eligible
| ocation; (b) nmet any applicable ability to benefit requirenents,
and (c) were neeting satisfactory academ c progress standards.
See Gov't Ex. 4 at 6. On the CEOCCS, directly foll ow ng those
instructions, is a portion of text in which the institution is
apprised of the legal ramfications of certifying inaccurate
i nformation.

Additionally, federal regulation 8 668.162(d) governs
the CEOCSs and states that agents who sign CEOCSs, and the
attached PM5-270 and Rei mbursenent Student Rosters, are
certifying as to the truth of the statenents therein. 34 C F. R
8§ 668.162(d). Here, Defendant points out that 8 668.162(d)
cannot, as the Governnent argues, refer to all students for which

the institution ever owed refunds, as it would then nmean that al
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refunds fromthe tinme of the school’s inceptions, including prior

ownership liabilities, should have been assessed at that tine as

wel | .

At trial, on direct exam nations, Defendant expl ai ned:

Finally, when you signed the six chief executive
officer's certification statenents that are the
subjects of this [I]ndictnent, what was it your
under st andi ng you were signing?

My clear understanding is | am signing that the
docunents which | am submtting the forns 270 and
t he spreadsheet and all the docunments along with
that which we are submtting are true to the best
of ny know edge.

Did you have any sense that form was asking you
about refunds that came before the date of the
certification?

Never.

Wien did you first learn that the Departnent of
Education was claimng that that's what it nmeant?

Only the day | was arrested and -- brought -- the
day | came to know that is -- only after they
arrested ne and brought ne to the court, they
handed ne a paper. Wwen | was reading that | was
surprised. That is the only time | cane to know
VWhat was the paper they handed you?

| ndi ct ment .

The [I]ndictnent. During the period of tinme that
you filed the twelve -- and actually you filed
twel ve of those certifications, didn't you?

Yeah.

During the entire rei nbursenent period?

Yes.
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Q During that period, did anybody every call you from
ED and say these certificates are false, you can't
sign then?

A Nobody.

See Mathew Trial Tr. 54-56, 11-19-09.

The Court concludes, after reading the ED instructions
and federal regulations, it was reasonable for Defendant to
conclude that both the CEQCCS instructions and federal regul ations
called for the subm ssion of accurate information and not that
they called for a certification that all outstandi ng student
refunds had been pai d.

ii. Confusion by the Reinbursenent Process

During the period of tinme ACTAS was placed on
rei mbursenent, various refund cal culation errors occurred that ED
and Defendant were working together to address. The financial
conplications coupled with m scomruni cati ons between M. d ass,
the attorney representing ACTAS, and ED nmade the financi al
situation further unclear.

First, in 2004, once Defendant allegedly realized that
problens with the rei nbursenents were going on at the school, he
contacted his attorney, M. dass, to assist with the program
revi ew concerns and refunds. See Mathew Trial Tr. 95, 11-19-009.
Def endant al so | earned out standi ng refunds were owed stenmm ng
fromthe tenure of Bubb, the prior owner. Then Defendant's

financial aid officer, Ms. Stanley, contacted ED to report a
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m scal cul ati on had been ongoi ng during Defendant’s ownership of
t he school; specifically, that drop dates were being inproperly
calculated as late as April 19, 2004. See CGov't Ex. 23, Letter
fromM. dass to Klinger and M. Gelfand, dated May 5, 2004.
Follow ng Ms. Stanley’s self-reporting, Defendant
testified that he sent M. d ass copies of the front of checks he
had set aside to send to ED once the liabilities were finalized,
whi ch he believed ED was going to address in the FPRD. M. { ass
began to i ndependently correspond with M. Gelfand of ED to
determ ne how to handl e the outstanding refunds. M. d ass then
sent M. Celfand a letter, representing that the copies of the
front of the checks were, in fact, nonies paid as refunds.
Def endant was never sent a copy of that conmunication and
testified that he had no know edge that M. d ass represented the
checks had, in fact, been negoti ated.
At trial, Defendant testified as to the follow ng:

Q Now, in the process, did an issue arise as to the
checks that you had sent the front of to the
departnent of education?

A Yes.

Q Tell the Court about that.

A Wen | talked to M. Gelfand on My 10th, |
realized — he told nme there are problens they
found, they are going to send ne a letter about. So
| was sure that there are sone mstakes then in
calculations. So there is no neaning for nme to send

those checks at that tinme. So | hold that check.

Q The anmount provided for in those checks, was it
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ever paid?
A Yes.
See Mathew Trial Tr. 9-10, dated 11-19-009.

In his trial testinony, Defendant expl ained that he
only sent the fronts of the checks to M. G ass, his attorney, to
denonstrate his intent to pay the full refunds at the tine the
cal cul ation corrections had been established. Noticeably, he did
not authorize M. dass to send the front of the checks to ED
representing that they had been negotiated. Once he |earned that
both the fronts and backs of the checks were required by ED in
order to receive requested reinbursenent funds, he paid the

refunds on that sane day.?®

15
Q And you - and the reason why you gave him [ M.

A ass] the checks is because -- just to show the
governnent that you paid the refunds that --

A No.

Q -- since -- isn't that the reason why you gave the
checks?

A The reason | gave that is because | wanted to pay

t he refund.
And it [the checks] bears your signature, correct?
A That is correct

Q And t he copi es of these checks you forwarded to M.
A ass for forwarding to the governnent, correct?

A Yeah, | forwarded the copy to himtelling that this
is what we are going to send.

Q And - just so I'mclear, the reason why you sent
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As the Court pointed out at trial, Defendant never saw
a copy of the letter fromM. dass to M. Gelfand of the ED
Therefore, due to the overarching confusion between Defendant and
ED, the | awer’s m staken representations to ED cannot be i nputed
to the Defendant.

Based on an overview of the relevant facts, the Court
concl udes that Defendant’s actions conport with the notion that
the entire rei nbursenent process was ongoi ng and, once refund
cal cul ati ons were conpl eted, ED could identify outstandi ng
liabilities and Defendant coul d determ ne whether they were
correct and, if so, issue paynent.

iii. Defendant’'s Conduct During the
Rei mbur senent Peri od

Def endant’ s conduct during the rei nbursenent period was
not “reasonably cal cul ated to deceive persons of ordinary

prudence and conprehension.” See Kehr, 926 F.2d at 1415 (stating

M. dass those checks was to show the governnent
that you paid these refunds?

A Not to say I'"'mpaid. At that point, you know, |'m
just sending so I"mgoing to pay with those checks.

Q Well, the reason why you sent the checks - the
reason why, clearly isn't it, is to let the
government know that you paid those nonies,
correct?

A No. If | paid the noney and if the noney was
received by the governnent, | would have had the

back of the check by the tine | amsigning it.
See Mathew Trial Tr. 100-02, 11-19-009.
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that "a schene or artifice to defraud 'need not be fraudul ent on
its face, but nust involve sone sort of fraudul ent
m srepresentati ons or om ssions reasonably cal cul ated to deceive
persons of ordinary prudence and conprehension.'").

In 2002, ED found that ACTAS was under new ownership
and had inaccurate and m ssing financial records. In April 2003,
Ms. Dell aVecchia visited ACTAS during the programreview and
found M. Bubb, the prior owner, still assisting with running the
school. Defendant specifically testified that M. Bubb was kept
on as he was famliar wwth the Title IV prograns. Further, at
the programreview s exit conference, Ms. DellaVecchia inforned
Def endant that he would need to hire an outside accountant to
assess the school’s Title IV funding.

Def endant conplied with each request. See Pl.’s Ex.
13, Def.’s Ltr Resp. to FPRD, dated 10/22/04 (“In addition, |
retained the prior owner as a canpus director and relied on him
to organi ze the docunents and nmanage the preparations for the
programreview . . . . | hired an auditor and a financial aid
servicer who were presented to nme as experts in the field who
coul d manage (in the case of the servicer) significant aspects of
the financial aid process. | now question their expertise.”) ]

In the PRR, dated Septenber 16, 2003, ED formally
accused ACTAS of failing to make refund paynents and then noted

that "instructions for the repaynent of any liability will be
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issued in the Final Program Review Determ nation." See Trial Tr.
99, dated 11-10-09. However, no date was set for the Final
Program Revi ew Determ nation and, in fact, the Final Program
Revi ew Det erm nati on was not issued until OCctober 8, 2004, over
one year later. Trial Tr. 61-62, dated 11-10-009.

Communi cat i ons between ED and Def endant conti nued
t hrough the rei nmbursenment process. |In June 2003 through July
2004, Defendant requested and ED rel eased $1, 211, 322 in Pel
Grants and federally backed | oans to ACTAS; for each request,

Def endant submitted a CEOCS and supporting docunentation. '

16 ED workers knew, as early as April 2003, that ACTAS had
out standi ng refunds owi ng. However, instead of w thhol ding
future funding until resolution of the outstanding liabilities,
M. Celfand continued to rel ease federal funds to Defendant from
May 8, 2003 through Septenber 14, 2004, when ED term nated ACTAS
agreenent to participate in Federal |V funding.

Further, when questioned, M. Gelfand hinmself testified
that no refunds were rel eased unl ess he was satisfied that the
CECCS and submtted students files were accurate:

Q But in the end, if you approve them that's --
that's your seal of approval that the information
was sufficient to establish that the students

qualified, the students were entitled to the -- the
noney that was requested and the students had
recei ved the noney that was requested as the -- as
the regul ati on requires.

A | -- again, | amnot at the institution and ny job
is toreviewthe docunentation that they sent to us
and the paper. So based on what | see on the

paper, that's --
Q Yeah.
A -- what |I'm processing and releasing the funds
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In April 2004, M. Celfand contacted ACTAS and
suspended Title IV rei nbursenent because no reports of dropped
students had been subm tted since ACTAS had been pl aced on
rei nbursenent in May 2003. Following this initial interaction
bet ween Defendant and M. Gelfand in April 2004, Defendant
forwarded correspondence to his attorney, M. d ass. Subsequent
confusion arose. However, in each instance where Defendant was
directly contacted by ED, he attenpted to be responsive. In June
2004, M. Celfand made followup calls, advising Defendant that
both sides of negotiated refunds checks had never been submtted

to ED. That sane day, Defendant wired ED the identified refunds.

A fair reading of the exchanged comuni cations is that
Def endant proposed to conpile and submt docunentation regarding
refunds in response to ED requests. Defendant, through his
attorney, even submtted a | etter acknow edgi ng that $70, 469. 69

in refunds was still owed. See Pl.’s Ex. 10, Letter from M.

based on that.

Q And you woul dn't rel ease the noney unl ess you were
satisfied, would you?

A That's correct.
See Celfand Trial Tr. 216:21-217:10, dated 11-10-09.
By continuing to rel ease funds to Defendant through

Septenber 14, 2004, ED was representing to Defendant that
Def endant’ s reports of known outstanding refunds were accurate.
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d ass to ED, dated August 13, 2004.%Y

Mor eover, on Cctober 22, 2004, Defendant notified ED
that the refunds identified were being appeal ed and to note the
positive steps ACTAS had enpl oyed since receiving the Final
Program Review Determ nation. See Pl.’s Ex. 13, Def.’s Resp. to
FPRD (noting that a different accountant was enpl oyed to conplete
the close out audit and a new consultant, M. Bogart from Busse
Educati onal Consulting, was hired to review ACTAS financi al
records, including refund cal cul ations).

Finally, Defendant stated that ACTAS was still open and
intending to “teach out” all current and remaining students. 1d.
Even after Defendant was inforned by the Accrediting Comm ssion
that all federal funding was being wthdrawm, he sent a letter to

ED to informthem of his future course of action

o During this process, Defendant made ot her
representations that indicate acknow edgnent of outstanding
refunds and intent to pay. On August 10, 2004, M. Celfand sent
Def endant a letter, requesting a copy of the backs of the checks
inserted into the Drop Reports as they had not been negoti at ed.
See Pl.’s Ex. 9 (noting copies of the front and backs of checks
#s 1176, 1177, 1182, 1183, 1184, 1185, and 1187 had not been sent
by Def endant).

I n response, on August 13, 2004, Defendant sent a
letter stating that “the school and owner recognize their
commtnent to pay refunds when due” and that, due to ongoi ng
obligations to students at ACTAS, they were having difficulty
paying tinmely refunds. See Pl.’s Ex. 10 at 1-3. In his letter,
Def endant i ncluded a copy of the negotiated #1176 check and
listed the known outstanding refunds. Defendant further
addressed the issue of future conflicts, which was to be raised
in the final programreview determnation. |d. at 2.
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| was inform ng the accrediting conm ssion and copied to

the board — | nean Departnent of Education state and

federal governnment that | will be — 1 will not enrol

anynore new students until | teach-out all students.

Two, | will be teaching out all the existing students who

are willing to cone — will come to school and want to

finish their education.
See Mathew Trial Tr. 12-13 (noting that from May 2003, when ACTAS
was placed on reinbursenent, through Decenber 2005, the
wi t hdrawal of all federal funds, Defendant testified that he
personal ly contributed $1.465 mllion of the $3,026,547.85 in
expenses). It is unlikely that, inits dealings with ED, a
person contenplating a schene to defraud those of prudent
sensibilities would commit to identifying refunds owed over a two
year tinme period and continue to teach-out the students enrolled
at his own cost.

Def endant’ s reasonabl e belief that the FPRD woul d
identify all outstanding liabilities and Defendant’s continued
cooperation with and docunent turnover during the rei nmbursenent
period are not actions that conport with one devising a
fraudul ent schene to hide the very nature of those docunents.
Under the circunstances, the Governnent did not prove, beyond a
reasonabl e doubt, that Defendant knowingly and willfully
participated in a schene to defraud the ED by signi ng CEOCSs

whi | e out st andi ng refunds were owed.

2. Specific |Intent

Section 1341 mail fraud, 8 1343 wire fraud and 8
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666 are specific intent offenses. United States v. Coyle, 63

F.3d 1239, 1243 (3d Cr. 1995). “To prevail under [those]
statute[s], the governnent nust show that a defendant intended to
commt fraud at the tinme of the alleged fraudul ent behavior.”

United States v. Vitillo, 2004 U S. Dist. LEXIS 22419, at *18-19

(E.D. Pa. Nov. 2, 2004) (internal citation omtted).
“The specific intent el enment may be found froma
material m sstatenent of fact made with reckl ess disregard for

the truth.” United States v. Hannigan, 27 F.3d 890, 892 (3d Cr

Pa. 1994) (citing United States v. Boyer, 694 F.2d 58, 59-60 (3d

Cir. 1982)). The Boyer court held that:

a fraudulent intent is necessary to sustain the charge of

a scheme to defraud. An untrue statenent or

representation which is in fact false only anmounts to

fraud if the defendant nmaking it either knew the

statenent to be false and he nmade it, nmade the statenent

with the intent to defraud, or, as | have said, these

t hi ngs were due to recklessness on his part.
694 F.2d at 59.18

Appl ying the Boyer rationale to the facts of this case,

the Court concludes that the Governnent failed to prove, beyond a
reasonabl e doubt, that Defendant had a specific intent to defraud
ED of Title IV funds.

Upon cl ose consideration of the evidence and a wei ghing

18 I n Boyer, the court found that reckl ess disregard was
“equivalent” to intentional msrepresentation "because you may
not recklessly represent sonething as true which is not true even
if you don't knowit if the fact you don't know it is due to
reckl ess conduct on your part.” 694 F.2d at 59.
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of the witnesses’ credibility, the Court finds that the
Governnent failed to prove, beyond a reasonabl e doubt, that
Def endant had fraudulent intent in signing the CEOCCSs. See
Pearl stein, 576 F.2d at 537 (in prosecution for mail fraud
government nust prove willful participation in fraudul ent schene
wi th know edge of its falsity); Klein, 515 F. 2d at 754 (mai
fraud statute requires proof of specific intent to defraud). As
di scussed in detail above, Defendant did not reasonably believe
that by signing the CECCSs, he was certifying that al
out st andi ng refunds had been paid. Therefore, Defendant did not
make the statenents “knowi ng” themto be fal se and Def endant did
not sign the CEOCCSs with the intent to defraud.

Accordingly, the Governnent failed to denonstrate
beyond a reasonabl e doubt, that Defendant specifically intended
to devise a schene to defraud ED of nonies received for students

attending ACTAS. Camolo, 334 F.3d at 364.

3. Use of Mail or Interstate Wre Conmuni cations

in Furtherance of the Schene

Here, the Governnment focuses on the inference that
Def endant’ s CECCS subm ssions and failure to negotiate specific

checks are sufficient evidence to denonstrate a fraudul ent

schene. However, the law requires nore. See Camolo, 334 F. 3d
at 364 (“Wiile innocent nmailings or wire comruni cations may

supply the necessary comruni cation el enent for these crimnal
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of fenses, there nust be 'sone sort of fraudul ent

m srepresentati ons or om ssions reasonably cal cul ated to deceive
persons of ordinary prudence and conprehension.’”) (internal
citations omtted).

The Court has determ ned that Defendant did not intend
to devise a schene to defraud ED of outstandi ng student refunds.
Therefore, the Governnent failed to prove, beyond a reasonabl e
doubt, that Defendant nailed the CECCSs in furtherance of a fraud
schene.

b. Theft Concerni ng Prograns on Federal Funds

The Governnent argues that Defendant is guilty of
stealing federal funds through ACTAS, in violation of 18 U . S.C. 8§

666(a) (1) (A and (b); see also Richards, 9 F. Supp. 2d 455, 458

(D.N.J. 1998) (stating that, under 18 U S.C. §8 666(a)(1)(A), a
conviction for theft froma federally funded program requires
that a defendant has a “specific intent to convert noney or
property fromthe prograni).

However, since the Court has concl uded that Defendant
did not manifest specific intent to defraud ED of the Title IV
funds, the Governnent also failed to prove, beyond a reasonabl e
doubt, that Defendant had the specific intent to steal those
funds through ACTAS, a federally funded program

C. Fal se Statenents

The Third Crcuit has held that “to establish know ng
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and wi |l ful conduct in the making of a fal se statenent, the
government nmust show that a defendant ‘acted deliberately and
wi th know edge that the representation was false.”" United

States v. Curran, 20 F.3d 560, 567 (3d Gr. 1994) (citing United

States v. dantzman, 447 F.2d 199, 200 (3d Cr. 1971) (governnent

failed to prove that defendant had personal know edge of
falsity)). Further, the Curran court held that “to convict a
person accused of making a false statenment, the governnent nust
prove not only that the statenent was fal se, but that the accused
knew it to be false. Thus, the governnment is required to show
that the m srepresentation was not made i nnocently or

i nadvertently.” 20 F.3d at 567.

Where the Court has determ ned that Defendant did not
have personal know edge of the falsity of the CECCSs and di d not
know that by signing the CEOCCSs he was certifying that al
out standi ng refunds had been paid, Defendant cannot, in turn, be
found to have “acted deliberately and with know edge that the

representation was false.” United States v. Barr, 963 F.2d 641,

645 (3d Gr. 1992) (holding that “[a] conviction under 8§ 1001
requires . . . [proof of] specific intent”). Further, the
Governnent failed to show, beyond a reasonabl e doubt, that

Def endant had personal know edge of any all eged

m srepresentations made in the PMS-270s and Rei nbursenent Student

Rosters submtted in addendumto the rel evant CEOCSs. See infra.
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As such, the Court concludes that the Governnent failed
to prove, beyond a reasonabl e doubt, that Defendant nade fal se

statenents wthin the neaning of 18 U . S.C. 8§ 1001.

B. “UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATI ON CASE” - COUNTS 14- 20
Here, in Counts 14-20, Defendant is charged with seven
(7) counts of mail fraud, in violation of 18 U S.C. § 1341, and
aiding and abetting, in violation of 18 U S.C. §2.1%°

a. Mai | Fraud

To prove mail fraud, in accordance with Third Crcuit

requi renents, the Government nust “prove that the defendant

19 In relevant part, 18 U . S.C. 8§ 2, entitled “Principals,
st at es:

(a) Whoever conmmits an of fense agai nst the United States
or aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or procures
its comm ssion, is punishable as a principal.

(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if
directly perforned by himor anot her woul d be an of fense
agai nst the United States, is punishable as a principal.

18 U.S.C. § 2.

To establish a violation of 8 2, the Government
“must prove that 'the defendant charged with aiding and
abetting that crinme knew of the conm ssion of the
substantive offense and acted with the intent to facilitate
it.'" Carbo, 572 F.3d at 118 (citing Kenp, 500 F.3d 257 at)
(internal quotations and citations omtted). There, the
Third Grcuit found that the “key phrase for our purposes is
‘“knew of the comm ssion of the substantive offense’ .
because a defendant who does not know of the state | aw
cannot be said to have known of the comm ssion of the
substantive offense.” |d.
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participated in the fraudul ent scheme know ngly and ‘in

furtherance of the illicit enterprise.”” United States v.

Dobson, 419 F.3d 231, 237 (3d Cr. 2005) (quoting Pearlstein, 576
F.2d at 531) (reversing the district court for failing to
instruct the jury on this el enent).

Specifically, in order for Defendant to be found guilty
of mail fraud in connection with the mailing of the unenpl oynent
conpensati on checks to Ms. Sasak, under 18 U . S.C. § 1341, and
ai ding and abetting, under 18 U S.C. § 2, Defendant nust have
knowi ngly and willfully participated in a scheme to defraud the
Commonweal t h of Pennsyl vani a of unenpl oynent conpensation and
"acted with the intent to facilitate it." Carbo, 572 F.3d 118.

The Governnent all eges Defendant, as a principal in the
al | eged schene to defraud, attenpted to re-hire former enployee,
Nanette Sasak, after being infornmed that she was receiving
unenpl oynment conpensation. The Governnment argues that Defendant
is cul pable for seven counts of mail fraud, each of Ms. Sasak’s
unenpl oynment conpensation requests during her re-enploynent with
Def endant, and for causing and encouragi ng Ms. Sasak’ s draw ng of
state unenpl oynent conpensation while receiving nonies from
Def endant and failing to report that incone.

Ms. Sasak worked for ACTAS until March 2004 when she
was laid off by Defendant. See Trial Tr. 48, dated 11-13-009.

Def endant testified that, on June 9, 2004, he received a letter
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fromM. Celfand, informng himthat there were problens with the
rei nbursenent cal culations. In order to address this particular
i ssue, Defendant called Ms. Sasak to work on a short-term project
wher eby she would |ist and determ ne which students’
rei mbursenents had been inproperly cal cul ated due to M.
Stanley’s confusion as to what the proper drop date to determ ne
school attendance. See Mathew Trial Tr. 6-7, 11-19-09 (noting
that Ms. Stanley had been using the date of determ nation “DOD
date, and not the |ast date of attendance “LOA").

Once she was laid off, Ms. Sasak began coll ecting
unenpl oynment conpensation fromthe Comonweal th of Pennsyl vani a.
When Def endant contacted her in June 2004 to work on a short term
project for ACTAS, they agreed she woul d be paid approxi mately
$15/hour in cash. See id. at 71-72. M. Sasak had a duty to
report any inconme she received to the Departnent of Labor and
| ndustry while she was coll ecting unenpl oynent. However,
Def endant, as an enployer, did not have a |legal duty to report a
former enployee’s current earning while working for the forner

enpl oyer.?® As Ms. Sasak did not report any of the cash noney

20 At trial, M. Bruyere, an enployee at the Commobnweal t h
of Pennsyl vani a Departnment of Labor and Industry, Internal Audits
Di vi si on, whose job entailed investigating unenpl oynent
conpensation fraud, testified as to the foll ow ng:

Q well, if -- if -- if an enpl oyee or forner enpl oyee
files a claim the enployer's notified of that
claim It has an opportunity at that tine to
indicate that it was a dismssal for cause or a
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paid to her by Defendant while she coll ected unenpl oynent during
June 2004, she alone may be guilty of defrauding the

Commonweal t h.

quit. That would negate the claim if that were --
That would --

-- uphel d?

--rai se an issue --

Ri ght.

-- which would result in adjudication.

o > O > O >

Now, once -- once -- if an enpl oyer doesn't object,
then the enployee goes on to unenploynent
conpensation. Wat obligation, if any, does the
enpl oyer have after that?

A After that, they're not obligated to return their —
those forns. It's possibly in their best interest
to respond, but there is no |egal obligation that
mandat es that an enployer respond to a wage and
separation verification request or a nonthly notice
of conpensation charges if they don't choose to
protest any of that information.

Q So, from that point on, they're kept inforned
because it affects their fund and therefore their
rate. But they're not obliged to do anything?
Legal ly?

That's correct.

Q kay. Now, there -- there's nothing -- there's
nothing wong wth an enployer who has laid
sonebody off at a later date, hiring them to do
part-tinme work, is there?

A No, sir.

See Bruyere Trial Tr. 182:15-183:16, dated 11-12-009.
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The Governnent argues that Ms. Sasak received seven
unenpl oynment conpensation checks, totaling $3,972, while she
wor ked on the ACTAS project. Those checks were sent begi nning on
July 7, 2004 through Septenber 30, 2004. See |ndictnment 13.
Def endant argues, however, that Ms. Sasak's project extended from
June 9, 2004 through June 14, 2004, resulting in a $600 cash
paynent from Defendant for her work. See Trial Tr. 80, dated 11-
19-09. 2

Def endant testified that he knew it was unlawful to
recei ve unenpl oynent conpensation while being gainfully enpl oyed
W t hout reporting the nonies received for working. See Carbo,
572 F.3d at 118 (stating that a "defendant who does not know of
the state | aw cannot be said to have known of the conm ssion of
the substantive offense."). However, Defendant testified that
whil e he knew Ms. Sasak was receiving unenpl oynent conpensati on,
he did not know that she was not reporting the cash wages he was
payi ng her for the particular ACTAS project. See Trial Tr. 63,

11-13-09. Defendant never told Ms. Sasak not to report the

21 A Initially during that first neeting | had denied
receiving anything and then later admtted that |
had.

Q And roughly how rmuch did you say you got? Does
t hat say about 600 dollars?

A Yeabh.
See Sasak Trial Tr. 80, dated 11-13-009.
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i ncone he was paying her for the work on that project. See Trial
Tr. 63, dated 11-13-09 ("Q D d he [Defendant] tell you not to
report the income? . . . . Q You said, '"No, he didn't. | just
basically understood it or assuned it." A Correct.").

When police arrived at Defendant's hone, placing him
under arrest, Defendant was subjected to an interview with

Oficer Parisi. At trial, Defendant testified as to the

fol | ow ng:
A Did -- | paid a -- did -- those people work under
the table for ne. And | said "no".
Q And was one of those people Nanette Sasak?
A Yes. | said that.
Q Wiy did you say that?
A Because | paid her for a few hours and |I told -- |

never told her it 1is wunder the table. \%%

understand is that it's not under the table. I

paid her for a few hours she worked. That's all.

A few days, you know, a few hours.

See Trial Tr. 152, dated 11-19-009.

Accordi ngly, the Governnment cannot denonstrate that an
under st andi ng exi sted between Defendant and Ms. Sasak, that she
was to receive pay for her work on the project and not report it
to the DOL. Though Defendant was aware of the state law, he did
not intend for or aid in Ms. Sasak’s failure to report the nonies

she earned whil e receiving unenpl oynent conpensati on checks.

Here, the Governnent failed to show, beyond a
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reasonabl e doubt, that Defendant know ngly participated in M.
Sasak’s failure to report her incone from ACTAS to the

Pennsyl vani a DOL, and therefore Defendant cannot be found
crimnally guilty of mail fraud and aiding and abetting, pursuant

to 18 U . S.C. 88 1341 and 2.

V. CONCLUSI ON

As to Counts 1 through 13, the Governnment failed to
denonstrate, beyond a reasonabl e doubt, that Defendant had the
specific intent to devise a schene to defraud the federal
governnment of Title IV funds. Therefore, the Court finds
Def endant not guilty on each of these counts.

As to Counts 14-20, the Government failed to prove,
beyond a reasonabl e doubt, that Defendant intended to facilitate
Ms. Sasak's failure to report her inconme to the Commonweal t h of
Pennsyl vani a whil e she was receiving unenpl oynent conpensati on.
Therefore, the Court finds Defendant not guilty on each of these
count s.

A judgnent of acquittal shall be entered in for Counts

1 thru 20.

-57-



I N THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA ) CRI M NAL ACTI ON
: NO. 08-678
V.

THOVAS MATHEW

JUDGMENT

AND NOW this 15th day of April, 2010, it is hereby
ORDERED t hat, pursuant to the acconpanying findings of fact and
conclusions of law, it is ordered that:

- As to Count 1, for wire fraud, in violation of 18
U S C 8§ 1343, Defendant is found not guilty;

- As to Count 2, for wire fraud, in violation of 18
U S C 8§ 1343, Defendant is found not guilty;

- As to Count 3, for wire fraud, in violation of 18
U S C 8§ 1343, Defendant is found not guilty;

- As to Count 4, for wire fraud, in violation of 18
U S C 8§ 1343, Defendant is found not guilty;

- As to Count 5, for wire fraud, in violation of 18
U S C 8§ 1343, Defendant is found not guilty;

- As to Count 6, for wire fraud, in violation of 18
U S C 8§ 1343, Defendant is found not guilty;

- As to Count 7, for theft or bribery, as an agent
and owner of a school receiving federal funds, in violation of 18

US C 88 666(a)(1)(A and (b), Defendant is found not guilty;
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- As Count 8,

federal official, vi ol ati on

found not guilty;
- As Count 9,

federal official, vi ol ati on

found not guilty;
- As Count 10,

federal official, vi ol ati on

found not guilty;
- As Count 11,

federal official, vi ol ati on

found not guilty;
- As Count 12,

federal official, vi ol ati on

found not guilty;
- As Count 13,

federal official, vi ol ati on

found not guilty;
- As

to Count 14,

for issuing false statenents to a
of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, Defendant is
for issuing false statenents to a
of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, Defendant is
for issuing false statenents to a
of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, Defendant is

for issuing false statenents to a

of 18 U S.C. 8 1001, Defendant is

for issuing false statenents to a

of 18 U S.C. 8 1001, Defendant is

for issuing false statenents to a

of 18 U S.C. 8 1001, Defendant is

for mail fraud and ai ding and

abetting a schene of fraud regardi ng unenpl oynent conpensati on,

in violations of 18 U S.C. 88 1341 and 2, Defendant

guilty;
- As to Count 15,

is found not

for mail fraud and ai ding and

abetting a schene of fraud regardi ng unenpl oynent conpensati on,
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in violations of 18 U S.C
guilty;

- As to Count
abetting a schene of fraud
in violations of 18 U S.C
guilty;

- As to Count
abetting a schene of fraud
in violations of 18 U S.C
guilty;

- As to Count
abetting a schene of fraud
in violations of 18 U S.C
guilty;

- As to Count
abetting a schene of fraud
in violations of 18 U S.C
guilty;

- As to Count
abetting a schene of fraud

in violations of 18 U. S.C

guilty.

88 1341 and 2, Defendant is found not

16, for mail fraud and ai ding and
regar di ng unenpl oynent conpensati on,

88 1341 and 2, Defendant is found not

17, for mail fraud and ai ding and
regardi ng unenpl oynent conpensati on,

88 1341 and 2, Defendant is found not

18, for mail fraud and aiding and
regardi ng unenpl oynent conpensati on,

88 1341 and 2, Defendant is found not

19, for mail fraud and aiding and
regardi ng unenpl oynent conpensati on,

88 1341 and 2, Defendant is found not

20, for mail fraud and aiding and
regardi ng unenpl oynent conpensati on,

88 1341 and 2, Defendant is found not

AND I'T I S SO ORDERED

S/ Eduardo C. Robreno
EDUARDO C. ROBRENO, J.
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